IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-724

WILLIAM VAN POYCK, Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GERALD S. BETTMAN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 290661 5515 Philips Highway Jacksonville, Florida 32207 (904) 737-9797 geraldbettmanlaw@yahoo.com ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal of the summary denial of this capital Appellant's Rule 3.851 motion to vacate his death sentence pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Van Poyck's successive rule 3.851 motion filed below was predicated upon newly discovered evidence in the form of sworn affidavits from four (4) of the original penalty phase jurors stating they probably would have recommended life imprisonment for Van Poyck had they known then what is known now, that Van Poyck was not the triggerman. Van Poyck argued that a "cumulative analysis" of the "totality of all available evidence" was required by law, including evidence from prior evidentiary hearings and court proceedings, and that when such a cumulative analysis was conducted he had established that the newly discovered evidence "probably would have yielded a less severe sentence" at resentencing. See, e.g., State v. Mills, 788 So.2d 249, 250 (Fla. 2001)(newly discovered evidence that defendant was not the actual killer establishes, after a cumulative analysis, that the sentencing phase probably would have produced a different result at resentencing). Van Poyck challenged the constitutionality and validity of his death sentence in the face of the newly discovered evidence and urged the Court to invoke the manifest injustice doctrine to reconsider and correct prior rulings denying Van Poyck relief. The lower court summarily denied relief, refusing to grant an evidentiary hearing. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. Procedural History:

1. On July 14, 1987, a grand jury sitting in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, issued an indictment charging Van Poyck, along with two (2) codefendants (Frank Valdes and James O'Brien) with one count of first-degree murder, seven counts of attempted murder, one count of armed robbery, two counts of aggravated assault, one count of aiding an attempted escape, and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R3633-37.¹

2. Van Poyck entered pleas of not guilty to the charges.

3. Van Poyck's trial was severed from those of his codefendants.

4. Van Poyck was represented at trial by court-appointed attorneys Cary Klein and Michael Dubiner.

5. Van Poyck's jury trial was held before the Honorable Michael Miller from October 31, 1988, to November 15, 1988. Van Poyck testified at his trial. The jury found Van Poyck guilty of first-degree murder, one count of attempted first-degree murder, armed robbery, one count of aggravated assault, aiding an attempted escape, and six counts of attempted manslaughter. R4138-43.

6. A penalty phase proceeding was held immediately after the jury

¹ References to the trial court record will utilize the symbol "R," and will refer to the 22 volumes of transcripts, pleading and orders, sequentially numbered from pages 1-4266.

returned its verdict, on November 16 and 18, 1988, during which Van Poyck's attorneys presented virtually no mitigating evidence. The jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 11 to 1. 2

7. On December 21, 1988, Judge Miller sentenced Van Poyck to death.

8. Codefendant Frank Valdes was subsequently tried, convicted and sentenced to death. On July 17, 1999, Valdes was beaten to death by prison guards in his Florida State Prison death row cell.

9. On July 5, 1990, this Court upheld Van Poyck's convictions and sentences on direct appeal. *Van Poyck v. State*, 564 So.2d 1066 (Fla.1990)(*Van Poyck I*). This Court specifically held that the State had failed to prove premeditated murder, and held that the evidence was insufficient to establish that Van Poyck was the triggerman, but the Court affirmed the first-degree murder conviction on the basis of felony murder, and upheld the death sentence after a brief *Tison v. Arizona* analysis. The Court did not address how its just-pronounced finding that the evidence was insufficient to establish that Van Poyck was the triggerman might have affected or tainted the jury's death recommendation. The United States Supreme Court declined certiorari review on March 18, 1991. *Van Poyck v. Florida*, 111 S.Ct. 1339 (1991).

 $^{^2}$ Van Poyck's trial attorneys later testified in post conviction proceedings that the trial court's refusal to grant a promised continuance between the guilt phase and penalty phase severely undermined their ability to investigate and present mitigating evidence.

10. On December 8, 1992, Van Poyck, represented by pro bono counsel, filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion in this cause. Judge Walter Colbath conducted a limited evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim, then denied all relief. On appeal a sharply divided Supreme Court, in a 4-3 decision, affirmed the denial of relief. *Van Poyck v. State*, 694 So.2d 686 (Fla.1997)(*Van Poyck II*). The U.S. Supreme Court declined certiorari review. *Van Poyck v. Florida*, 522 U.S. 995 (1997).

11. Van Poyck filed a state habeas corpus petition in this Court in February, 1997, raising a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. In another 4-3 decision a divided Court denied the petition. *Van Poyck v. Singletary*, 715 So.2d 930 (Fla.1998)(*Van Poyck III*). The U.S. Supreme Court declined certiorari review. *Van Poyck v. Singletary*, 199 S.Ct. 1252 (1999).

12. In February, 1999, Van Poyck filed a federal habeas corpus petition in the U.S. District Court, which denied all relief without an evidentiary hearing. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed on May 9, 2002. *Van Poyck v. Fla. Dept. of Corrections*, 290 F.3d 1318 (2002). The U.S. Supreme Court declined certiorari review. *Van Poyck v. Moore*, 123 S.Ct. 869 (2003).

13. In December, 2002, Van Poyck filed a state habeas corpus petition in this Court raising a claim based upon *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). The Court denied the petition without opinion on August 20, 2003. The U.S. Supreme Court declined certiorari review. *Van Poyck v. Crosby*, 124 S.Ct. 1884 (2004).

14. On September 30, 2003, Van Poyck filed in the trial court his Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing, pursuant to Rule 3.853, Fla.R.Crim.P. The basic issue in dispute was whether postconviction DNA testing establishing, to a scientific certainty, that Van Poyck was not the triggerman, combined with the Florida Supreme Court's direct appeal determination that Van Poyck was not the shooter, deprived Van Poyck of substantial mitigating evidence to such an extent that it tainted the jury's death recommendation and rendered the death sentence inherently unreliable. The Honorable Richard Wennett summarily denied the motion. On appeal, in a 6-1 decision, this Court affirmed, on May 19, 2005, *Van Poyck v. State*, 908 So.2d 326 (Fla.2005)(*Van Poyck IV*).

15. On April 26, 2005, while the above-described DNA testing motion was on appeal, Van Poyck filed in the trial Court his first successive Rule 3.850/3.851 motion to vacate his death sentence. The motion was based upon newly discovered evidence in the form of a sworn affidavit wherein the affiant stated that Van Poyck's codefendant, Frank Valdes, had repeatedly confessed to

him, and to others, that he, Valdes, had shot and killed Fred Griffis. This, Van Poyck asserted, rendered his jury's death recommendation tainted and the death sentence inherently unreliable. Judge Wennett summarily denied the motion. On appeal this Court rendered another 6-1 decision, affirming the denial, on May 3, 2007. *Van Poyck v. State*, 961 So.2d 220 (Fla.2007). Rehearing was denied on July 16, 2007. (*Van Poyck V*).

16. On October 31, 2008, Van Poyck filed a federal suit in the U.S. District Court, Northern District of Florida, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, seeking post conviction DNA testing of the blood-stained clothing worn by Van Poyck, Frank Valdes, and the victim, Fred Griffis. On October 8, 2009, U.S. District Judge Robert L. Hinkle dismissed the suit. Van Poyck's timely appeal is currently pending before the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

II. Background Facts

The evidence presented at Van Poyck's trial has been summarized by this Court on direct appeal in *Van Poyck I*. Briefly, the record reflects that on June 24, 1987, corrections officers Steven Turner and Fred Griffis transported state prisoner James O'Brien from Glades Correctional Institution to a doctor's office in downtown West Palm Beach. After the officers parked the prison transport van they were confronted by Van Poyck and his accomplice, Frank Valdes, both armed with pistols. Van Poyck took Turner's gun and forced him beneath the passenger's side of the van. While Turner was squeezing under the van he saw Valdes' feet, as Valdes forced officer Griffis to the rear of the van. While Turner watched these two sets of feet – Valdes' and Griffis' – at the rear of the van "he heard a series of shots and saw Griffis fall to the ground." *Id.* at 1067.

Both prior to, and during the trial, it became clear that the primary disputed fact would be the identity of the person who shot Fred Griffis. From the opening statement onward, up and through both the guilt and penalty phases, the state vigorously argued that Van Poyck was the triggerman. With no eyewitnesses to the actual shooting the prosecutor argued the circumstantial evidence, and the inferences, showed that Van Poyck was the shooter (even as he withheld a diagram and notes written by his own witness, the medical examiner, which demonstrated that Valdes was most certainly the shooter). The surviving officer, Steven Turner, also placed the murder weapon in Van Poyck's hand when he purported to identify the individual pistols. In contrast, Van Poyck testified and admitted that he had recruited Valdes to free O'Brien, but denied shooting officer Griffis.

With the evidence thus disputed the case went to the jury under dual theories of first-degree murder: Felony murder or premeditated murder. The trial court submitted a "special verdict form" to the jury. The jury was first instructed to unanimously determine if Van Poyck was guilty of "first-degree murder." The jury was then to specifically determine if Van Poyck was guilty of "premeditated murder" or "felony murder," and/or "both," with a box provided for checking the appropriate determination. The jury was instructed to check "premeditated murder" if *any* juror found Van Poyck guilty of only premeditated murder; and to check "felony murder" if *any* juror found him guilty of only felony murder; and to check "both" if *any* juror found him guilty of both. R3046-47. Thus, this aspect of the verdict was not required to be unanimous. The defense objected to this special verdict form's failure to reflect a numerical breakdown by each category to demonstrate how many, if any, jurors voted for a particular theory of guilt.

The jury returned a unanimous guilty verdict on first-degree murder and checked the boxes for "felony murder" and "both." R4138. This meant that anywhere from one (1) to eleven (11) jurors believed Van Poyck was guilty of premeditated murder, and, by necessity under the facts of this case, was the actual killer.

At the penalty phase the state continued to argue that Van Poyck was the triggerman while defense counsel argued that he was not. *See, e.g.,* R3511-12; 3522; 3524-65. The jury returned a death recommendation, by a vote of 11 to 1. Judge Miller followed the recommendation, finding four (4) statutory aggravating

circumstances and no mitigation. In his written sentencing order Judge Miller rejected Van Poyck's proposed mitigation that he was not the shooter by writing that the state had "in reality presented competent evidence that Mr. Van Poyck may have in fact been the individual who pulled the trigger and shot Fred Griffis." R40; RA4199.

Thus, Van Poyck was recommended for death, and sentenced to death by a jury and judge that *erroneously* believed Van Poyck was the triggerman, as evidenced by the special verdict form and by Judge Miller's written sentencing order.

On direct appeal the Supreme Court of Florida found that the evidence was legally insufficient to sustain a verdict of premeditated murder, and legally insufficient to sustain a finding that Van Poyck was the triggerman. *Van Poyck I*, at 1069 ("the evidence was insufficient to establish first-degree premeditated murder"), and 1070 ("the record does not establish that Van Poyck was the triggerman"). The Court nonetheless upheld Van Poyck's conviction based upon first-degree felony murder, and then upheld the death sentence following a brief *Tison v. Arizona* analysis. *Id.* However, the Court failed to reconsider the verdict and/or sentence in light of its newly announced acquittals of premeditated murder

recommendation, and thus the actual sentence, may have been tainted and rendered unconstitutionally unreliable where it was at least partly predicated upon the jury's erroneous belief that Van Poyck was the triggerman, when in fact Van Poyck did not shoot Fred Griffis.

In his initial Rule 3.850 postconviction proceeding Van Poyck presented, *inter alia*, a claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel for failure to investigate and present a wealth of available mitigating evidence, the existence of which was established during the lengthy evidentiary hearing. Justices Anstead, Kogan and Shaw dissented from the denial of relief on this claim, stating in relevant part that:

The undisputed facts in this case present a blatant example of counsel's failure to investigate and prepare a penalty phase defense. Once again, we have a lawyer appointed who had absolutely no experience in capital cases . . . an inexperienced lawyer who has conceded he was unprepared and, in his words "caught with his pants down. . ." We do not have to guess at whether counsel did a proper investigation and prepared a defense before the penalty phase began; counsel admits he did not. . . In the postconviction hearing below the appellant presented a vast array of mitigating circumstances of the most serious nature that should have been thoroughly investigated and presented at the original penalty phase . . . All of this mitigating evidence was readily available to trial counsel, but none of it was discovered or presented . . . In our previous review of this case we found insufficient evidence of premeditation but affirmed appellant's guilt on a felony murder theory. In our opinion we upheld the sentence of death and expressly noted that the trial court properly rejected the meager mitigation offered by counsel. Van Poyck v. State, 564 So.2d 1066 (Fla.1990). Knowing what we do now, we

should not give our approval to a sentence of death predicated upon a patent case of ineffective assistance of counsel. In doing so we are simply providing additional support to the already considerable body of evidence that the death penalty process is seriously flawed by the legal system's tolerance of incompetent counsel. We should apply our holding in <u>Deaton v. Dugger</u> and remand the case for a reliable penalty proceeding in which evidence of aggravation and mitigation can be presented by counsel prepared on both sides.

Van Poyck v. State, 694 So.2d 686 (Fla.1997) at 699-701 (emphasis added).

In the two decades since Van Poyck's conviction, the State, in its many court filings in response to Van Poyck's various pleadings, has freely (if belatedly) conceded that Van Poyck was not the triggerman, but has consistently argued that this "did not matter."

III. Specific Facts Pertaining to the Motion Below

i) <u>The Motion for DNA Testing</u>: In 2003 Van Poyck filed in the trial court his Rule 3.853 Motion for Postconviction DNA testing, the basis of which was that DNA testing of blood residue on the clothing worn by Van Poyck and Valdes on the day of the offense would conclusively and scientifically establish that Van Poyck was not the triggerman, contrary to what the state argued to Van Poyck's jury. This, Van Poyck contended, would create the requisite "reasonable probability" that he would have received a lesser sentence had the jury known he was not the shooter. The Honorable Richard J. Wennet summarily denied relief

and this Court affirmed in a 6-1 decision. *Van Poyck v. State*, 908 So.2d 326 (Fla.2005). In affirming, the majority put themselves in the place of the jury, attempting to discern what the jury would have done with the knowledge that Van Poyck did not kill the victim. The Court, specifically noting the lack of mitigation presented at trial, concluded that:

[W]e hold that there is no reasonable probability that Van Poyck would have received a lesser sentence had DNA evidence establishing that he was not the triggerman been presented at trial.

Van Poyck IV, at 330. In reaching this conclusion, the majority failed to conduct the required cumulative analysis of *all* mitigating evidence, and specifically failed to consider and weigh the substantial mitigation developed in Van Poyck's initial postconviction proceeding, the "vast array of mitigating circumstances of the most serious nature that should have been thoroughly investigated and presented at the original penalty phase . . . but [was not] discovered or presented." *Van Poyck II*, at 699 (Justices Anstead, Kogan and Shaw dissenting).

ii) <u>The First Successive Postconviction Motion</u>: In 2005, while the denial of the DNA motion was still pending on appeal, Van Poyck filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon a sworn affidavit which stated that Van Poyck's codefendant, Frank Valdes, had repeatedly confessed to the affiant that he

had shot and killed Fred Griffis. This newly discovered evidence, the motion asserted, created the requisite "probability" that Van Poyck would have received a lesser sentence had his jury known he was not the triggerman. Judge Wennet summarily denied the motion and this Court in another 6-1 decision, affirmed. *Van Poyck v. State*, 961 So.2d 220 (Fla.2007). Referring back to its then-recent decision in *Van Poyck IV*, affirming the denial of the DNA testing motion, the majority held that:

Having decided in *Van Poyck IV* that new evidence showing that Valdes was the triggerman would not create a "reasonable probability" of a different result, we are bound to conclude here that different evidence on the same fact would not "probably" create a different result.

Van Poyck, 961 So.2d at 225. However, the majority again failed to conduct the required cumulative analysis of <u>all</u> prior mitigating evidence before weighing the probable impact upon the jury of this newly discovered evidence, and specifically failed to consider and weigh the "vast array of mitigating circumstances of the most serious nature" which was developed during Van Poyck's initial Rule 3.850 proceeding. Instead, the majority emphasized the lack of mitigation presented at trial:

At most, non-triggerman status would have constituted nonstatutory mitigation which, considering the four aggravating factors *and absence of other mitigation*, would probably not have yielded a lesser sentence.

Id. at 226 (emphasis added).

The Newly Discovered Evidence: Following the conclusion of his iii) postconviction proceedings Van Poyck, who was not and never has been represented by Court-appointed postconviction counsel, began contemplating, on his own pro se initiative, an executive clemency petition based upon the wealth of mitigating evidence developed in post-trial proceedings.³ After saving up his own personal funds, and operating on his own initiative, Van Poyck retained Jan D. Rutter, a Florida licensed private investigator, to help him develop facts and evidence to support a clemency petition. See: PCR1-28 (Exhibit #1, Supporting Appendix (sworn affidavit of Jan D. Rutter)). As part of this effort it was decided to interview Van Poyck's original jurors to determine whether some or all would support a clemency bid. Investigator Rutter determined that two (2) of the original twelve jurors were deceased (Albert Baker and Terry Berkowitz), but she learned the location of the ten (10) remaining jurors: 1) Darline Hancock; 2) Virginia A.

-14-

³ At all times during postconviction proceedings Van Poyck was represented by out-of-state *pro bono* attorneys. Van Poyck has never been represented by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel, Registry Counsel, Conflict Counsel, or any other postconviction counsel appointed under Section 27.702, Fla.Stat., or otherwise paid for by the State of Florida.

Dillon; 3) Christine Dowd; 4) Stephen Rich; 5) James Palmer; 6) Cheryl Daniels;7) Goldie Moody; 8) Paul Engle; 9) Mary Bradford; and, 10) Debra Blanchard.

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