IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-724

WILLIAM VAN POYCK

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CAPITAL APPEALS DIVISION)

............

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Celia Terenzio Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal represents Van Poyck's **fourth** appeal of a motion for postconviction relief, and **seventh** overall state collateral challenge to his capital sentence. This litigation is a repeated attempt to re-litigate an issue that has been adversely decided in **seven published opinions over the span of two decades.**

He once again is arguing that he is in possession of newly discovered evidence that entitles him to a new sentencing proceeding premised on his non-triggerman status. The trial court summarily denied relief properly as this motion is legally insufficient on its face. Moreover, the trial court found that Van Poyck could not overcome the procedural bars attached to his successive and untimely motion. Van Poyck's characterization of juror affidavits as <u>evidence</u> pursuant is frivolous as the jurors' post trial statements which reveal their thought processes could never be considered competent admissible evidence under Florida law at any proceeding, nor under any legal theory. The trial court denied properly without an evidentiary hearing Van Poyck's claim.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED WIHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEAIRNG VAN POYCK'S CLAIM THAT AFFIDAVITS OBTAINED FROM HIS FORMER JURY ABOUT A SUBJECT THAT INERRED IN THEIR SENTENCING PHASE RECOMMENDATION MEETS THE

DEFINTION OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDCENCE IN FLORIDA

In this appeal, which represents the **sixth** collateral challenge of his capital conviction and sentence. Van Poyck is appealing the trial court's summary denial of his fourth motion for collateral relief pursuant to Fla.R. Crim. Pro. 3.851. The legal basis for the motion filed below was a claim of newly discovered evidence premised under Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998). The alleged newly discovered evidence consists of the sworn affidavits of four jurors who served on Van Poyck's trial over twenty-three years ago, which essentially state that if they had known that Van Poyck was not the shooter, "there is at least a reasonable probability that I would have recommended a life sentence." (PCR 31-33).¹ These affidavits were obtained following the unauthorized interview of the jurors by an investigator hired by Van Poyck.² The trial court denied relief because Van Poyck failed to establish any of the requirements of Jones, supra. Specifically the Court found that these affidavits are not newly discovered evidence as they are not competent evidence that would be admissible at a new sentencing hearing;

¹ A fourth juror signed an affidavit that stated that she would, "recommend life without parole if given the option." (PCR 34). ² The trial court expressed its explicit disapproval of Van Poyck's counsel use of these affidavits. Irrespective of the fact that counsel did not interview the jurors, the trial court noted that the rule was violated in spirit by the attorney. (Tr. 34-39; PCR 105-107).

even if the affidavits could be considered admissible evidence, Van Poyck's motion is grossly untimely and therefore his lack of due diligence bars this claim; and the affidavits are not material as they would not produce a different sentence under. Jones (PCR 103-107, Tr. 61-62).

In challenging the trial court's summary denial of his fourth collateral motion for relief, Van Poyck claims that the trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on the disputed facts including the issue of due diligence. Moreover, Van Poyck also alleges that the information contained in the juror affidavits is not information that inheres in the verdict and even if it were, prohibition of access to such information under §90.607 is unconstitutional. Based on the <u>undisputed</u> facts and relevant law, the trial court's ruling must be affirmed on appeal, as Van Poyck's arguments are completely void of any merit whatsoever.

First, summary denial was proper as Van Poyck's "new evidence", i.e., juror statements that they would change their respective recommendation of death to life if they were informed that Van Poyck was not the shooter, cannot form the basis for a claim of newly discovered **evidence.** As explained by this Court, in Jones;

> the trial court should initially consider whether the evidence would have been admissible at

trial or whether there would have been any evidentiary bars to its admissibility.

<u>Id</u>, 709 So. 2d at 521. Juror affidavits which includes information that inheres in the verdict cannot qualify as competent admissible evidence under Florida law. This universal and long standing rule of evidence bars admission of Van Poyck's "evidence" and is fatal to his claim. The Court has clearly explained as follows:

> Many years ago, this Court established guidelines with respect to the propriety of inquiry into matters occurring in the jury room. We explained

[t]hat affidavits of jurors may be received for the purpose of avoiding a verdict, to show any matter occurring during the trial jury the which does not or in room, essentially inhere in the verdict itself, as that a juror was improperly approached by a agent, or attorney; party, his that witnesses or others conversed as to the facts or merits of the cause, out of court and in the presence of jurors; that the verdict was determined by aggregation and average or by lot, or game of chance or other artifice or improper manner; but that such affidavit to avoid the verdict may not be received to show any matter which does essentially inhere in the verdict itself, as that the juror did not assent to the verdict; that he misunderstood the instructions of the Court; the statements of the witnesses or the pleadings in the case; that he was unduly influenced by the otherwise statements or of his fellowjurors, or mistaken in his calculations or

judgment, or other matter resting alone in the juror's breast.

Marks v. State Road Dep't, 69 So.2d 771, 774-75 (Fla.1954) (quoting <u>Wright v.</u> <u>Illinois & Mississippi Tel. Co.</u>, 20 Iowa 195, 210 (1866)(emphasis omitted)). In short, matters that inhere in the verdict are subjective in nature, whereas matters that are extrinsic to the verdict are objective.

The Florida Evidence Code codifies the sanctity of the jury verdict by providing that "[u]pon an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror is not competent to testify as to any matter which essentially inheres in the verdict or indictment." § 90.607(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Consiste	ent w	vith t	he	fore	egoi	ng	rul	e,	our
courts	have	been	vigi	ilan	t i	n	proł	nibi	ting
inquiry	into	jury	deli	ber	atic	ns	of	mat	ters
necessar	rily a	rising	out	of	the	tri	al.		

<u>Devoney v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 501, 502 (Fla. 1998)(emphasis added). There is no question that Florida case law on this point is explicit and abundant. <u>Duckett v. State</u>, 981 So. 2d 224, 231 fn.7 (Fla. 2005)(affirming summary denial of postconviction claim based on claim of newly discovered evidence via juror interviews as allegations involved the verdict itself); <u>Walters v. State</u>, 786 So. 2d 1227(Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(describing juror affidavit which stated that had juror known that defendant would be incarcerated she would have changed guilty verdict, was inadmissible at a motion for new trial.); Jones v. State, 928 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 2006)(explaining that juror statement that does not reveal any misconduct or improper external influence is not admissible evidence in support of a new trial); Simpson v. State, 3 So.3d. 1135, 1143 (Fla. 2009)(same); United States v. Sjeklocha, 843 F.2d 485, 488 (11th Cir. 1988)(precluding former juror testimony regarding his thought process that he would change verdict had he known about other information as such testimony inhered in the verdict and was inadmissible at motion for new trial); Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107,117 (1987)(recognizing the constitutionality and rationale behind of the long standing and firmly established common law that flatly prohibits the admission of juror testimony regarding a verdict).

And contrary to Van Poyck's assertion otherwise, this rule does apply to the sentencing phase of a capital case. <u>See Songer</u> <u>v. State</u>, 463 SO.2d 229 (Fla. 1985)(upholding denial of successive motion for postconviction relief, in part because the juror affidavit that she believed she could not consider non statutory mitigating evidence is inadmissible evidence at penalty phase pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §90.607(2)(b)); <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 593 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1992)(permitting defense attorney to interview jury foreman about matters that inhered in the jury's sentencing recommendation was error pursuant to §90.607(2)(b));

State v. Hamilton, 574 So. 2d 124, 128 (Fla. 1991)(recognizing, §90.607(2)(b)) which is that similar to other many jurisdictions, absolutely forbids any judicial inquiry into emotions, mental processes, or mistaken beliefs of jurors, at the guilt of sentencing phase); Jones v. State, 928 So. 2d 1178, 1191 (Fla. 2006)(same). Van Poyck's arguments completely ignore the evidence code and case law that without question forecloses this claim. Because his "evidence" is not competent admissible evidence, summary denial was proper as Van Poyck's motion is legally insufficient on its face.

Second, even if the affidavits could be considered admissible evidence, Van Poyck cannot meet the remaining requirements of <u>Jones</u>. With regard to the materiality prong of <u>Jones</u>, Van Poyck continues to ignore the fact that every court to review this issue, has explicitly and consistently found that his **own** actions, which have been established through **unrefutted** evidence, warranted the sentence of death.³ In other words, "evidence" that he was not the shooter is not of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. <u>Jones</u>, 709 So. 2d at 521. The facts remain, as admitted to by Van

³ Van Poyck claims that the state has freely conceded that he was not the shooter of Officer Griffis. **I.B. at 11.** That is incorrect. The State has consistently acknowledged that this Court determined that as a matter of law there was insufficient evidence to sustain a finding of premeditated murder. That does not translate into a factual finding that he was not the shooter.

Poyck when he testified at trial, that he wanted to help his friend, James O'Brien escape from prison, and he, and he alone had been contemplating this for approximately two years (ROA 2619-22; SR 443-446). Van Poyck put the escape plan together, recruited Valdes to assist, and gave Valdes orders about how to proceed. (ROA 2622, 2626-27, 2630-31; SR 446, 450-451, 454-455). While Valdes provided the guns, Van Poyck verified they were loaded. (ROA 2628, 2656-57; SR 452, 480-481). The plan was for Valdes to secure the correction van driver and Van Poyck would get the officer who was in the passenger seat (ROA 2647; SR 473). Van Poyck admitted telling the passenger, Officer Turner, to get under the van or he was a dead man (RAO 2648; SR 474). Following Officer Griffis' murder, Van Poyck turned to Officer Turner and demanded the key to the van and threatened his life (ROA 2649-50; 473-474). It was **his** idea, and he and Valdes acted together in carrying it out. Van Poyck attempted to kill Officer Turner when he pointed a loaded gun at Turner's face and told him he was a dead man and pulled the trigger. (ROA 1706-1708). Turner heard a click as the gun misfired and he was then able to run away. (Id.) Van Poyck also noted that Valdes went through Officer Griffis' pockets after he was shot and that there was blood around (ROA 2650; SR 474). Van Poyck admitted that he was not under the influence of any substance that might have impaired his ability to think or reason - Van Poyck knew

exactly what he was doing on the day of the murder. He was not impaired by any mental infirmity (ROA 2629-31, 2639; 453-455, 463). He also reiterated that he set up the entire criminal plan which resulted in Officer Griffis' death. (ROA 2662; SR 486). Van Poyck was convicted of the **attempted murder** of Turner as well as six counts of attempted manslaughter of the police officers who Van Poyck aimed and shot at during the high speed chase through the streets of West Palm Beach.³ <u>Van Poyck</u>, 564 So. 2d at 1067.

record clearly demonstrates that the The State's presentation at the penalty phase, focused on the defendant's culpability as the major participant in the escape attempt as justification to impose the death sentence. For instance, prior to the penalty phase, the trial court, with the agreement of the parties, confirmed that emphasis would not be placed upon either first-degree murder theory. The trial judge inquired: "Does everybody then agree as to, [the instruction] 'Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you have found the Defendant guilty of first degree murder,' and I leave it at that?" (ROA 3183; SR 692). Defense counsel agreed. (Id.). As is clear from the

³ Therefore regardless of whether Van Poyck actually killed Officer Griffis, he did attempt to kill Officer Turner, and he did shoot at six other officers clearly establish that he possessed the required culpability to justify his death sentence.

penalty phase record, the State sought and discussed the four statutory aggravating factors⁴, and the State never relied upon the triggerman theory for imposition of a death sentence. Rather, the State told the jury to assume that Valdez was the triggerman. (ROA 3511-12; SR 766-767). It was the defense that argued Van Poyck's participation was minor and that he was not the triggerman, and to this, the State commented on Van Poyck's major role in the crime and noted in passing the triggerman theory, but the prosecutor never stated that this was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (ROA 3477-3540, 3562-65; SR 795, 817-820). Based on the overwhelming facts detailed above, every court who has reviewed this claim, including this Court on numerous prior occasions, has determined that evidence of his non-triggerman status would not entitle him to relief under Jones.

Indeed, this Court has determined previously on more than one occasion that Van Poyck's non-triggerman status as demonstrated through **admissible evidence** has not entitled him to a new sentencing hearing. <u>Van Poyck</u> *IV*; <u>Van Poyck</u> *V*; and <u>Van</u> Poyck, 961 So. 2d at 227. (Van Poyck *VI*). Therefore, Van

⁴ Those factors are: (1) crime committed while Van Poyck was on parole; (2) crime was committed for purpose of effecting an escape from custody; (3) great risk of death to many persons; and (4) prior violent felony. (ROA 3482-3500, 3507-08). <u>See Van Poyck v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 1066, 1068-69, 1071 (Fla. 1990) (affirming aggravating factors found by trial court).

Poyck's latest attempt to reverse those findings with incompetent inadmissible juror affidavits, was properly denied an evidentiary hearing. His non-triggerman status without regardless of how it is presented, does not alter the fact that Van Poyck was the major participant in the events that led up to murder of Officer Griffis. His death the sentence is constitutionally permissible.⁴ Cf.Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 2001) (upholding finding that the newly discovered evidence did not refute testimony at trial); Davis v. State, 736 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 1999)(same) Cf. Galloway v. State, 802 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)(upholding denial of request for DNA testing because results could not refute evidence that defendant was

⁴ In fact this Court has relied upon the facts of this case in support of upholding other death sentences despite the non-triggerman status of the defendant:

We have previously affirmed death sentences where the defendant is a principal in a felony or premeditated murder. See Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 760 (Fla. 2001) (finding death sentence proportionate in case where defendant did not actually commit murder, but personally committed crimes of burglary and robbery and actions displayed reckless disregard for human life); Van Poyck v. State, 564 So. 2d 1066, 1070-71 (Fla. 1990) (finding the death sentence proportionate where the defendant was the instigator and primary participant in the underlying crimes, came to the scene "armed to the teeth," and knew lethal force could be used).

Chamberlain v. State, 881 So. 2d 1087,1109 (Fla. 2004)(emphasis added).

present and was also participating with co-defendant in the crimes); <u>Cf.</u> <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 865 So. 2d 1259 (Fla. 2004)(explaining that DNA testing would not entitle defendant to relief given that there is no dispute that he was involved in the rape and murder).

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